

An assessment of farm households' vulnerability to climate change in Samastipur, Bihar

Commented [DW1]: Consider Capitalizing each word in title; include Country of research

Abstract:

Climate change is a serious threat to the agrarian economy of Bihar due to persistent droughts, floods, irregular rainfall, *etc.* The present study was conducted during 2023–24 in Samastipur district of Bihar to analyze the socio-economic vulnerability of farm households. In Samastipur two blocks were selected randomly and in each blocks, clusters of village were also selected randomly and from each clusters and 20-20 respondents were selected purposively from all three category of farmers i.e. cropping only, cropping + livestock and cropping + livestock, total 120 farm households were selected. For socio-economics status frequency and percentage method was used. For socio-economic vulnerability index IPCC approach used. Findings indicated that majority of farmers belongs to middle age group, medium family income and marginal land holding size. Most of the farms (66.67%) belong to moderate vulnerability group (0.147-0.345) followed by low (<0.147) and high (>0.345) vulnerability group that is 16.67% and 16.67% respectively. The study suggested focused policy efforts to improve the current socio-economic status of farm households by understanding the importance of closely associated variables affecting the degree of vulnerability to cope with climate change.

Commented [DW2]: Abstract must be concise but at least contain:

- i) the problem (gap of the study),
 - ii) purpose (objectives of the study)
 - iii) methodology (methods to be used in achieving objectives)
 - iv) important findings of the study
 - v) implications of the research findings
- The length of the abstract is 185 words (check whether this falls within the range of the journal)
 - Indicate in different colours (highlight) all the areas of concern in your revised draft.

Introduction:

Global climate changes are posing unique challenges and become a researchable issue to be present day agriculture. Climate constitutes complex inter-related factors such as cloudiness, evaporation, temperature, rainfall, wind speed and sun shine, *etc.* which play a vital role. Change in one factor that triggers changes in other factors.

Commented [DW3]: You can give a brief overview of the introduction so that is more insightful and directive throughout the paper

Indian regions are characterized with a high populace mainly dependent on livelihoods sensitive to climate variations and witness to frequent fluctuations in agricultural production and income (Bizikova *et al.*, 2013; Brown *et al.*, 2007). High dependence on climate-sensitive sectors, limited infrastructure, volatile markets, poor socio-economic and low biophysical status of the habitat makes the rural poor most vulnerable to climate change (Banerjee, 2014; Safriel and Adeel, 2005; Singh *et al.*, 2017). Climate change is considered one of the most important

challenges for Bihar. Bihar is an agricultural sector occupies a prominent place in the structural changes of the economy with a significant contribution to the state's income and rural employment. Bihar, located in the country's most fertile northern plains, is blessed with some of the finest fertile alluvial soils deposited by the mighty river Ganga and its tributaries. This makes it a state with huge potential and can make India a food-secure nation. The eastern state's weather also supports a diverse variety of crops. And maybe this is the reason why agriculture has become Bihar's economic backbone for the past several decades. The sector engages 77 per cent of the state's workforce and contributes to around 24.8 per cent of the state domestic product (SDP).

Methodology:

The present study was conducted during 2023–24 in Samastipur district of Bihar to analyze the socio-economic vulnerability in 120 purposively selected farm households. For socio-economics status frequency and percentage method was used. For socio-economic vulnerability index IPCC approach used.

Analytical Framework

Suitable statistical tools will be applied in order to get meaningful results. IPCC Vulnerability Framework will be used for development of Socio-economic Vulnerability Index (SeVI) at farm household level.

Detailed Computation Process for SeVI

- a) Data ranges and scales used will be different among the indicators and in order to compare and perform arithmetical operations on them, they will be normalized (GómezLimo'n and Sanchez-Fernandez, 2010) during their integration into aggregate vulnerability index within a dimensionless range (0–1).
- b) Normalization of all the indicators and then averaging these resultant normalized values.

$$Z_i = (X_i - X_{min}) \div (X_{max} - X_{min}) \text{ (When the indicator is positively related to the index)}$$

$$Z_i = (X_{max} - X_i) \div (X_{max} - X_{min}) \text{ (When the indicator is negatively related to the index)}$$

where,

Z_i is the normalized value of w.r.t. the indicator X

X_i is the value of indicator in original units

X_{min} is the minimum value of the indicator in original units

X_{max} is the maximum value of the indicator in original units (unless specified on a priori basis)

- c) Three indices for sensitivity, exposure and adaptive capacity will be constructed by

Commented [DW4]: Give the map showing the Samastipur District of Bihar (different colours can be used)

obtaining a weighted mean of the indicators identified.

- d) These three indices will be averaged to obtain the SeVI for regional as well as household level
- e) Exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity indices will be calculated separately by using their respective indicators along with their respective calculated weights to the indicators Principal Component analysis (PCA) used.
- f) Exposure, sensitivity and adaptive capacity indices will be calculated separately by using their respective indicators along with their respective calculated weights.

$$SeVI = (Exposure + Sensitivity) - Adaptive Capacity$$

Indicators selection:

List 1 : Exposure Indicators

Sl. No.	Exposure Indicators	Relationship with component
1.	Trend in <i>kharif</i> rainfall (Coefficient of trend)	+
2.	Trend in <i>rabi</i> rainfall (Coefficient of trend)	+
3.	Trend in <i>summer</i> rainfall (Coefficient of trend)	+
4.	Trend in <i>kharif</i> temperature (Coefficient of trend)	+
5.	Trend in <i>rabi</i> temperature (Coefficient of trend)	+
6.	Trend in <i>summer</i> temperature (Coefficient of trend)	+
7.	Trend in <i>kharif</i> relative humidity (Coefficient of trend)	+
8.	Trend in <i>rabi</i> relative humidity (Coefficient of trend)	+
9.	Trend in <i>summer</i> relative humidity (Coefficient of trend)	+
10.	Nearest possible water resource (KM.)	+
11.	Inclusion of village in drought/flood declared areas (1-Yes / 0-No)	+
12.	No. of drought/flood in last 10 years (Number)	+

Note: Selection of the variables: 1-9: Ahsan *et al.* (2010); Sendhil *et al.* (2015); Sendhil *et al.* (2016); Sendhil *et al.* (2018); Ayanlade (2018); Balaganesh *et al.* (2020), 10-12: Authors inclusion based on expert opinion.

List 2 : Sensitivity Indicators

Sl. No.	Sensitivity Indicators	Relationship with component
1.	Household type (Kutch=1; Semi Pucca=2; Pucca=3)	-
2.	Depending on natural resources (1-Yes / 0-No)	+
3.	Total consumption expenditure on food (Rupees/month)	+
4.	Easy access to electricity (1-Yes / 0-No)	-
5.	Family members with chronic illness (Number)	+
6.	Nature of roads (Paved=1/Not paved=0)	-
7.	Loss of family member due to drought/flood(Number)	+
8.	Loss of livestock due to drought/flood (Number)	+
9.	Total operational holdings (acre)	+
10.	Family size (Number)	+
11.	Easy access to the drinking water resources (Yes/No)	+

Note: Selection of the variables: 1-9: Ahsan *et al.* (2010); Sendhil *et al.* (2015); Sendhil *et al.* (2016); Sendhil *et al.* (2018); Ayanlade (2018); Balaganesh *et al.* (2020), 10-11: Authors inclusion based on expert opinion.

List 3: Adaptive Capacity Indicators

Sl. No.	Adaptive Capacity Indicators	Relationship with component
1.	Sources of climate variability related information (Frequency)	+
2.	Easy access to credit (1-Yes / 0-No)	+

3.	Enjoying group credit facility (1-Yes / 0-No)	+
4.	Applied for any gov. crop insurance scheme (1-Yes / 0-No)	+
5.	Average farm size (acre)	+
6.	Average herd size (acre)	+
7.	Total milk production in (lit/month)	+
8.	Yearly gross income (Rupees)	+
9.	Farming experience (No. of years)	+
10.	Trainings attended (Number)	+
11.	Social participation (1-Yes / 0-No)	+
12.	Educational level of the household head (Illiterate=0; Read and write=1; Primary=2; Middle=3; High School=4; Higher Secondary=5; Graduate and above=6)	+

Note: Selection of the variables: 1-9: Ahsan *et al.* (2010); Sendhil *et al.* (2015); Sendhil *et al.* (2016); Sendhil *et al.* (2018); Ayanlade (2018); Balaganesh *et al.* (2020), 10-12: Authors inclusion based on expert opinion.

Result and Discussion:

The table.1 presents data on the distribution of individuals across different age groups. In the "Young" age group, which includes individuals aged 35 and below, there are 28 individuals, accounting for 23.33% of the total population. The "Middle" age group, covering ages 36 to 50, has the highest frequency with 85 individuals, making up 70.83% of the total. Finally, the "Old" age group, consisting of individuals above 50 years, has only 7 individuals, representing just 5.83% of the total. This distribution shows a clear concentration of individuals in the middle-aged category, with a smaller proportion in both the younger and older categories.

Table.1. Distribution of respondents on the basis of age

Age Group	Frequency	Percentage
Young upto 35	28	23.33

Commented [DW5]: 1) This section should be guided by the objectives of the study.
2) The results should then be discussed step by step as per the objectives

Middle (36-50)	85	70.83
Old (Above 50)	7	5.83

The table.2 shows the gender distribution of a given population. The "Male" group has 106 individuals, comprising 88.33% of the total, while the "Female" group consists of 14 individuals, accounting for 11.67% of the total. This indicates a significant majority of males in the population, with females representing a much smaller proportion.

Table.2. Distribution of respondents on the basis of gender

Gender Group	Frequency	Percentage
Male	106	88.33
Female	14	11.67

The table.3 presents the marital status distribution of the population. Among the individuals surveyed, 113 are married, making up 94.17% of the total, while 7 individuals are unmarried, representing 5.83%. This shows a dominant trend of married individuals, with a small proportion of unmarried individuals in the population.

Table.3. Distribution of respondents on the basis of marital status

Marital Status	Frequency	Percentage
Married	113	94.17
Unmarried	7	5.83

The table.4 provides the caste category distribution within the population. The "General" category includes 16 individuals, accounting for 13.33% of the total. The "Other Backward Classes" category has the highest frequency with 57 individuals, representing 47.50% of the population. The "Extremely Backward Class" category follows closely with 37 individuals, comprising 30.83% of the total. Lastly, the "Scheduled Castes/Scheduled Tribes" category

consists of 10 individuals, making up 8.33% of the population. This distribution shows a significant concentration in the Other Backward Classes and Extremely Backward Class categories, with smaller proportions in the General and Scheduled Castes/Scheduled Tribes categories.

Table.4. Distribution of respondents on the basis of caste

Caste Category	Frequency	Percentage
General	16	13.33
Other backward classes	57	47.50
Extremely Backward Class	37	30.83
Scheduled castes/ scheduled tribes	10	8.33

The table.5 outlines the educational attainment levels of the population. Among the individuals surveyed, 4 are illiterate, representing 3.33% of the total. The "Functionally Literate" category includes 7 individuals, or 5.83%. A significant portion of the population has completed middle school, with 23 individuals, making up 19.17%. The "Secondary School" category includes 25 individuals, accounting for 20.83%. In the "Higher Secondary" category, there are 34 individuals, which represents 28.83% of the total. Only 6 individuals, or 5.00%, have completed "Graduate and Above" education, indicating a relatively low proportion with higher education. The "Primay Education" category includes 21 individuals, making up 17.50% of the population. This distribution shows that the majority of individuals have attained education up to the Higher secondary levels.

Table.5. Distribution of respondents on the basis of education

Education	Frequency	Percentage
Illiterate	4	3.33
Functionally literate	7	5.83

Primary Education	21	17.50
Middle school	23	19.17
Secondary school	25	20.83
Higher Secondary	34	28.33
Graduate and Above	6	5.00

The table.6 shows the distribution of individuals based on their landholding sizes. A majority, 93 individuals or 77.50% of the population, are classified as "Marginal Farmers" with land holdings of up to 2.5 acres. The "Small Farmers" category, which includes those with land holdings between 2.51 and 5 acres, consists of 22 individuals, representing 18.33% of the total. Only 5 individuals, or 4.17%, are classified as "Medium Farmers" with land holdings between 5.01 and 10 acres. Interestingly, there are no "Large Farmers" with land holdings greater than 10.01 acres, as indicated by the 0% in that category. This distribution highlights a predominance of marginal farmers, with very few individuals holding medium-sized land parcels and no one possessing large land holdings.

Table.6. Distribution of respondents on the basis of land holding

Land Holding	Frequency	Percentage
Marginal farmers (Up to 2.5 acres)	93	77.50
Small farmers (2.51 to 5 acres)	22	18.33
Medium farmers (5.01 to 10 acres)	5	4.17
Large farmers (> 10.01 acres)	0	0.00

The table.7 shows the distribution of family sizes within the population. The majority of individuals, 76 or 63.33%, belong to small families with up to 4 members. The "Medium Family Size" category, which includes families with 5 to 6 members, consists of 27 individuals, making up 22.50% of the total. The "Large Family Size" category, with families of 7 or more members,

includes 17 individuals, representing 14.17%. This indicates that most families are small, while a smaller proportion falls into the medium and large family categories.

Table.7. Distribution of respondents on the basis of family size

Family Size	Frequency	Percentage
Small family size (up to 4 members)	76	63.33
Medium family size (5 to 6 members)	27	22.50
Large family size (7 and above)	17	14.17

The table.8 presents the distribution of annual income among individuals. A significant majority, 85 individuals or 70.83%, fall into the "Medium" income category, earning between 88,663 and 109,721. The "High" income category, for those earning above 109,722, consists of 12 individuals, making up 10.00% of the total. Meanwhile, 23 individuals, or 19.17%, fall into the "Low" income category, earning up to 88,662. This shows that most individuals have a medium farm income, with fewer people in the low and high-income brackets.

Table.8. Distribution of respondents on the basis of annual income

Farm Income	Frequency	Percentage
Low (up to 88,662)	23	19.17
Medium (88,663 - 109,721)	85	70.83
High (above 109,722)	12	10.00

The table.9 categorizes individuals based on their vulnerability levels. The majority, 80 individuals or 66.67%, fall into the "Moderate" vulnerability group, with scores between 0.147 and 0.345. The "Low" vulnerability group, with scores below 0.147, includes 20 individuals, representing 16.67% of the population. Meanwhile, 20 individuals, or 16.67%, belong to the "High" vulnerability group, with scores greater than 0.345. The mean vulnerability score is

0.246, with a standard deviation of 0.098, indicating that most individuals have moderate vulnerability, with fewer in the low and high categories.

Table.9. Distribution of respondents on the basis of vulnerability

Vulnerability Group	Frequency	Percentage
Low (<0.147)	20	16.67
Moderate (0.147-0.345)	80	66.67
High (>0.345)	20	16.67
Mean = 0.246	SD = 0.098	

Conclusion:

The agrarian economy of Bihar is under threat from climate change, characterized by frequent droughts, floods, and inconsistent rainfall. Socio-economic status was analyzed using frequency and percentage methods, while vulnerability was measured using the IPCC framework. Results showed that most farmers of farmers belongs to middle age group, medium family income and marginal land holding size. Most of the farms (66.67%) belong to moderate vulnerability group (0.147-0.345) followed by low (<0.147) and high (>0.345) vulnerability group that is 16.67% and 16.67% respectively. The study suggested focused policy efforts to improve the current socio-economic status of farm households by understanding the importance of closely associated variables affecting the degree of vulnerability to cope with climate change.

References:

Ahsan, M. N. and Warner, J. (2014).The socio-economic vulnerability index: A pragmatic approach for assessing climate change led risks–A case study in the south-western coastal Bangladesh. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, **8**: 32-49. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijdr.2013.12.009>

Ayanlade, A., Radeny, M., Morton, J. and Muchaba, T., 2018. Rainfall variability and drought characteristics in two agro-climatic zones: An assessment of climate change challenges in Africa. *Science of the Total Environment*, 630, pp.728-737.

Balaganesh, G., Malhotra, R., Sendhil, R., Sirohi, S., Maiti, S., Ponnusamy, K. and Sharma, A.K.,

Commented [DW6]: The conclusion should indicate a summary of the findings and implication of the study. This section looks like recommendations of the study

Commented [DW7]: Use 90% of research articles published in indexed journals. Add at least 30 reputable journals published in the last 8 years, and use Mendeley. Adjust the reference writing procedure by paying attention to GFA (APA style 7 edition). Try to include the DOI or the article url.

2020. Development of composite vulnerability index and district level mapping of climate change induced drought in Tamil Nadu, India. *Ecological Indicators*, 113, p.106197.

Bandyopadhyay, N., Bhuiyan, C. and Saha, A., 2020. Drought mitigation: Critical analysis and proposal for a new drought policy with special reference to Gujarat (India). *Progress in Disaster Science*, 5, p.100049. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pdisas.2019.100049>

Carpena, F., 2019. How do droughts impact household food consumption and nutritional intake? A study of rural India. *World Development*, 122, pp.349-369.

Dhanya, P. and Ramachandran, A., 2016. Farmers' perceptions of climate change and the proposed agriculture adaptation strategies in a semi-arid region of south India. *Journal of Integrative Environmental Sciences*, 13(1), pp.1-18. <http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1943815X.2015.1062031>

Feola, G., Lerner, A., Jain, M., Montefrio, M. and Nicholas, K., 2015. Researching farmer behaviour in climate change adaptation and sustainable agriculture: Lessons learned from five case studies. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 39, pp.74-84. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2015.03.009>

Hitayezu, P., Wale, E. and Ortmann, G., 2017. Assessing farmers' perceptions about climate change: A double-hurdle approach. *Climate Risk Management*, 17, pp.123-138 <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2017.07.001>

IPCC, 2014. *Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report Summary for Policymakers*. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. <https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/syr/>

Malakar, K., and Mishra, T., 2017. Assessing socio-economic vulnerability to climate change: a city-level index-based approach. *Climate and Development*, 9(4), pp.348-363. <https://rsa.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17565529.2016.1154449>

Mehta, L., Srivastava, S., Adam, H., Bose, S., Ghosh, U. and Kumar, V., 2019. Climate change and uncertainty from 'above' and 'below': perspectives from India. *Regional Environmental Change*, 19(6), pp.1533-1547

Radhakrishnan, A., Gupta, J. and Kumar, R., 2018. Vulnerability of dairy based livelihoods to climate variability and change-A study of Western Ghat Region-Ratnagiri, Maharashtra, India. *Indian Journal of Animal Research*, 52(9), pp.1378-1382.

Sendhil, R., Meena, R.P., Thimmappa, K., Singh, R. and Sharma, I. (2015). Sensitivity of rice-wheat system yields to climate change: Evidence from Haryana. *Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 28: 797-802.

Sendhil, R., Ramasundaram, P., Meena, R.P., Thimmappa, K. and Sharma, I. (2016). Tracking the yield sensitivity of rice-wheat system to weather anomalies. *National Academy Science Letters*, 39: 401-405.

Sendhil, R., Jha, A., Kumar, A. and Singh, S. (2018). Extent of vulnerability in wheat producing agro-ecologies of india: tracking from indicators of cross-section and multi-dimension data. *Ecological Indicators*, **89C**: 771-780.

Singh, S., 2020. Farmers' perception of climate change and adaptation decisions: A micro-level evidence from Bundelkhand Region, India. *Ecological Indicators*, 116, p.106475.

Swami, D. and Parthasarathy, D., 2018. Challenges and approaches to vulnerability and adaptation to climate change: Empirical evidence from household survey of farmers in Maharashtra, India. AGUFM, 2018, pp. ED33B-08

UNDER PEER REVIEW